
 

Ffon/Tel: 01656 643643 Facs/Fax:01656 668126  Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk 

Negeseuon SMS/SMS Messaging: 07581 157014 Twitter@bridgendCBC  Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 

Test relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Rydym yn croseawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod I ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich dewis 
iaith. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 
 Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 643694 / 643513 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:   

 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       

Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 

Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Iau, 30 Ionawr 2025 

 
Annwyl Cynghorydd,  
 
PWYLLGOR SAFONNAU 
 
Cynhelir Cyfarfod  Pwyllgor Safonnau O bell Trwu Timau Microsoft ar Dydd Iau, 6 Chwefror 2025 
am 09:30. 
 
AGENDA 
 

 
1 Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 

 
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau. 
 

2 Datganiadau o fuddiant 
 

Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.  
 

3 Hysbysiad O Benderfyniad Panel Dyfarnu Cymru Mewn Perthynas Â'r Cynghorydd Steven 
Bletsoe

3 - 24 
 

4 Materion Brys 
 

I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn y 
dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â Rhan 4 (pharagraff 4) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cyngor yn y Cyfansoddiad. 
 

  

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


Nodyn:  Bydd hwn yn gyfarfod Hybrid a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion mynychu trwy Siambr y 
Cyngor, Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr / o bell Trwy Timau Microsoft. 
Bydd y cyfarfod cael ei recordio i’w drosglwyddo drwy wefan y Cyngor.  Os oes gennych unrhyw 
gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 / 643159 
 
Yn ddiffuant 
K Watson 
Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
 



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
6 FEBRUARY 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

NOTICE OF DECISION OF THE ADJUDICATION PANEL FOR 
WALES IN RELATION TO COUNCILLOR STEVEN BLETSOE  

  

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
MONITORING OFFICER  

Responsible 
Officer:  

LAURA GRIFFITHS 
GROUP MANAGER LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 
Procedure Rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

To present to the Committee a recent decision of the 
Adjudication Panel for Wales in relation to Councillor (Cllr) 
Steven Bletsoe and determine the duration of suspension.   

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to present to the Committee the recent decision of the 

Adjudication Panel for Wales (APW) in relation to a complaint against Cllr Steven 
Bletsoe of Bridgend Town Council, and to consider the recommendation by the 
APW, which has been referred back to the Standards Committee for consideration.  
The Standards Committee is to determine the duration of suspension.   
 

2. Background  
 
2.1 This matter relates to a complaint made to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW) alleging that Cllr Steven Bletsoe, a member of Bridgend Town Council, had 
failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct, in particular, the following 
paragraphs of the Code: 

 
6(1)(a) – Members must not conduct themselves in a manner which could 
reasonably be regarded as bringing their office or authority into disrepute; 
(7a) – Members must not in their official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to 
use their position improperly to confer on or secure for themself, or any other 
person, an advantage or create or avoid for themself, or any other person, a 
disadvantage; 
10(2)(c)(i) – Members must regard themselves as having a personal interest in any 
business of their authority if a decision upon it might reasonably be regarded as 
affecting their wellbeing or financial position, or that of a person with whom they 
live, or any person with whom they have a close personal association; 
11(1) - Where Members have a personal interest in any business of their authority 
and they attend a meeting at which that business is considered, they must disclose 
orally to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest before or at the 
commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent; 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

14(1)(a) - Where Members have a prejudicial interest in any business of their 
authority they must, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's 
standards committee withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting 
considering the business is being held; 
14(1)(c) - Where Members have a prejudicial interest in any business of their 
authority they must, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's 
standards committee not seek to influence a decision about that business; 
14(1)(e) - Where Members have a prejudicial interest in any business of their 
authority they must, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's 
standards committee not make any oral representations (whether in person or some 
form of electronic communication) in respect of that business or immediately cease 
to make such oral representations when the prejudicial interest becomes apparent.  

 
2.2 The PSOW issued a report under section 69 of the Local Government Act 2000 and 

referred the matter to the Monitoring Officer of Bridgend County Borough Council 
(BCBC) for consideration by the Council’s Standards Committee.  On 9 May 2024 the 
Committee considered the PSOW report and found that Cllr Bletsoe had breached 
the Code of Conduct.  At that meeting the Committee found that he had breached 
paragraphs 6(1)(a), 7(a), 11(1), 14(1(a), 14(1)(c) and 14(1)(e) of the Code of Conduct 
(‘the Code’). It also found that, in the light of certain aggravating factors, Cllr Bletsoe 
should receive a sanction of six months’ suspension in accordance with its powers 
under the Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and 
Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended). 

 
2.3 The decision to suspend was not implemented as Cllr Bletsoe subsequently appealed 

to the APW.   On 5 June 2024, the President of the APW issued a decision which 
allowed the appeal to proceed on a limited ground of appeal in relation to sanction 
only. The President decided that the appeal in relation to the breaches of the Code 
had no reasonable prospect of success.  The APW, to adjudicate upon the appeal, 
met on 5 December 2024.  Cllr Bletsoe represented himself, with the support of Cllr 
Martin Williams.  The Decision Report of the APW dated 3 January 2025 attached as 
Appendix 1 sets out the reason for the decision and has been uploaded to the APW 
website.  The APW referred the matter back to the BCBC Standards Committee with 
a recommendation that the Appellant should be suspended for 10 weeks pursuant to 
the Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards 
Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001. 

 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 The Committee has limited options available and must only consider the issue of 

sanction.  Regulation 9(2) of the Local Government Investigations (Functions of 
Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001 provides 
that where a Tribunal refers a matter back to a Standards Committee with a 
recommendation that a different penalty be imposed, the Standards Committee may 
impose the new penalty but must also decide whether or not it should instead uphold 
its original decision on sanction. This is the final part of the process and deals only 
with the level of sanction which should be imposed, taking into account the findings 
reached by the APW.  

 
3.2 The decision for the Standards Committee is therefore whether to follow the 

recommendation of the APW and suspend Cllr Bletsoe for a period of 10 weeks, or 
to uphold its original decision of a 6 month suspension  Whichever period of 
suspension the Committee decides, it will take effect on the day after the Committee 

Page 4



 

has reached its decision.  There is no further right of appeal except by way of Judicial 
Review to the High Court. An application for permission to bring a Judicial Review 
will not terminate the implementation of the suspension in the way that the Notice of 
Appeal to the APW did.  

 
3.3 After the Committee makes its determination, the decision and reasons for the 

decision will be confirmed in writing to Cllr Bletsoe, the Complainant, PSOW and the 
APW as soon as reasonably practicable. 

 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010, Socio-

economic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been 
considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council 
must consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will 
be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.  This report 
also assists in the achievement of the following well-being objective under the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:- 

 
 A county borough where people feel valued, heard and part of their community.   
 
5.2 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the 

corporate well-being objectives. 
 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change implications.   

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding and corporate parent implications.  
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that the Standards Committee determine the level of suspension 

to be imposed on Cllr Bletsoe as a result of the breaches of the Bridgend Town 
Council’s Code of Conduct.   

 
 
Background documents:  
None 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

REASONED DECISION 

 

TRIBUNAL REFERENCE NUMBER: APW/008/2023-24/AT  

 

APPELLANT: Councillor Steven Bletsoe 

 

RELEVANT AUTHORITY:  Bridgend Town Council 

 

1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 An Appeal Tribunal was convened by the President of the Adjudication Panel for 
Wales ('APW’) to consider an appeal by Councillor Steven Bletsoe (‘the Appellant’) 
against the decision of the Standards Committee of Bridgend County and Borough 
Council (‘the Standards Committee’) which was convened on 9th of May2024. 

1.2 The Standards Committee found that the Appellant had breached Paragraphs 
6(1)(a), 7(a), 11(1), 14(1(a), 14(1)(c) and 14(1)(e) of the Code of Conduct (‘the Code’). It 
also found that, in the light of certain aggravating factors, the Appellant should receive a 
sanction of six months’ suspension in accordance with its powers under the Local 
Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards 
Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended). 

1.3 The President of the APW had issued a decision dated 5 June 2024 which allowed 
the appeal to proceed on a limited ground of appeal in relation to sanction only. The 
President decided that the appeal in relation to the breach of Code element of the 
appeal had no reasonable prospect of success. 

1.4 The Appeal Tribunal to adjudicate upon the appeal met at 10:30am on the 5th of 
December 2024 at the Port Talbot Justice Centre, Harbourside Road, Port Talbot, SA13 
1SB, and the hearing was open to the public. The Appellant represented himself, with 

Page 7



the support of Councillor Martin Williams. The Public Service Ombudsman for Wales 
(‘the PSOW’) was represented by Mr Phillip Morris of 9 Park Place Chambers, Cardiff. 
The Monitoring Officer for Bridgend County Borough Council City (‘BCBC’), Ms Kelly 
Watson, was also in attendance. 

1.5 The Appeal Tribunal and the parties referred to a final Hearing bundle comprising 
491 pages. The Appellant called Councillor Martin Williams to give evidence as to his 
character and he also supplied a large number of written character references. 

 

2.  BACKGROUND TO THE CASE AND CODE BREACHES 

2.1 In summary, the Regeneration Committee of Bridgend Town Council had met on the 
14th of June 2022. One of the items under discussion related to blue plaque unveilings 
in the town, and a heated discussion took place around inviting a high-profile guest to 
unveil a plaque. This discussion involved the Appellant’s wife, who was also a 
Councillor, and the Clerk. Minutes were prepared and were to be received by a Council 
meeting on 26th September 2022. At that meeting, the Appellant proposed that the 
minutes be deferred to the next meeting, as he had ‘questions regarding inaccuracies in 
the minutes.’ 

2.2 On 24th October 2022, the Appellant chaired a further meeting of the Regeneration 
Committee. In relation to the item to confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting of 14th 
June 2022, the Appellant stated that the minutes needed to be reviewed, as certain 
references should not have been included and that the purpose of minutes was to 
record resolutions, not conflict. As regards the reference to his wife having left the 
meeting without apology, the minutes recorded that the Appellant said that he had heard 
his wife say; “I’m sorry, I can’t do this” before leaving the meeting. The Appellant did not 
declare a personal or prejudicial interest in the matter; however, he abstained from the 
vote to amend the minutes and to omit the details of the dispute recorded in the draft 
minutes. 

2.3 At a Council meeting on 12th December 2022, in an item to receive draft minutes of 
the Regeneration Committee held on 24th October 2022, the minutes record that the 
Appellant again spoke to state that he believed he had said at the meeting of 14th June 
2022, that his wife had said “I can’t do this, I’m leaving” as opposed to the wording 
recorded in the minutes; “I’m sorry, I can’t do this”. The Appellant did not declare a 
personal or prejudicial interest in the matter and confirmed that he was happy for his 
comments to be recorded in the minutes of the meeting of 12th December 2022. 

2.4 The Standards Committee hearing of 9th May 2024 found the following on the 
balance of probabilities as regards the disputed facts, that: - 

Page 8



2.4.1 The Appellant did have a personal interest in the agenda item to ratify the 
committee minutes of 14 June 2022; 

2.4.2 The Member did have a prejudicial interest in the same agenda item in accordance 
with the Code; 

2.4.3 It was reasonable that a member of the public with all of the facts may consider 
that the Appellant was seeking to influence other Committee members inside the 
Chamber on the question of whether minutes, as drafted, should be ratified; and 

2.4.4 There was an advantage to the Appellant’s wife in his raising concerns about the 
draft minutes, due to the ongoing PSOW investigation and the public perception at that 
time. 

2.5 As to breaches of the Code, the Standards Committee resolved that; 

2.5.1 There was a clear and obvious breach of Paragraphs 11(1), 14(a), 14(c) and 14(e) 
of the Code as the Appellant had failed to withdraw from the discussion and made 
representations in respect of an agenda item in which he had a prejudicial interest; 

2.5.2 There was a breach of Paragraph 7(a) as the Appellant’s involvement in the 
agenda item could reasonably be considered by the public as an attempt to seek an 
advantage for his wife, or a disadvantage for the Clerk; and 

2.5.3 In relation to Paragraph 6(1)(a), the overall conduct was sufficiently serious to 
damage the public’s trust and confidence, and to bring the Council and the Appellant’s 
office into disrepute. 

 

3. PRELIMINARY APPLICATIONS 

3.1 The Appellant applied to exclude two items of evidence. These two items provided 
by the PSOW consisted of a Facebook post made on the 12th of May 2024, following 
the Standards Committee meeting, and an on-line news article dated 15th May 2024 
entitled; ‘Councillor given maximum suspension after ‘trivial row’ raises bias concerns 
about committee’. He stated that these items post-dated the events and were of no 
relevance to the findings of fact and breach by the Standards Committee. He was 
adamant that he had not generated the news article and did not deliberately go out to 
make a news story. He said that persons aligned to a political party had, however, been 
active in the media in making extremely unpleasant accusations and comments about 
him following the Standards Committee hearing. 

3.2 Mr Morris for the PSOW submitted that the documents were relevant in the Appeal 
Tribunal’s consideration of aggravating and mitigating factors, for example as to the 
question of whether the Appellant felt remorse and insight regarding his actions. 

Page 9



3.3 The Appeal Tribunal retired to consider the Appellant’s application. Following careful 
consideration of the application, it determined that the material which post-dated the 
Standards Committee hearing in May 2024 could be considered in the context of the 
sanction to be imposed following an appeal on sanction, as the Tribunal was considering 
the question of sanction afresh based on all relevant circumstances. It would however 
give due consideration as to the weight which would be placed on these items during the 
proceedings. 

3.4 The Appellant apologised that due to the amount of material involved, he had not 
appreciated that Directions issued by the Appeal Tribunal had required him to provide 
the relevant timings for the part of the Standards Committee hearing which he wished 
the Appeal Panel to watch in connection with his submissions. Mr Morris indicated on 
behalf of the PSOW that he was content for this extract to be viewed, and the Appeal 
Panel duly viewed the relevant extract of the final part of the Standards Committee 
meeting during a break in the proceedings. 

 

4. SUBMISSIONS OF THE APPELLANT ON THE ACTION TO BE TAKEN 

4.1 The Appellant said that he respected rules and the law and was not a ‘firebrand 
councillor.’ He gave an example that if he might not agree with the 20mph speed limit, 
he would abide by it and respect it. At the time he committed the breach, he did not think 
that he had a personal and prejudicial interest. He had whole-heartedly believed that he 
was acting in the interests of the Council. He had felt that the wording of the minutes 
had been inaccurate and not in the usual ‘house style’ and had been written under the 
direction of the Clerk to support her complaint to the PSOW. If he had sat back and 
accepted the Standards Committee sanction, he would be back in the Chamber by now. 
He felt he had to go through the ordeal, as he strongly believed that the sanction of six 
months’ suspension had been too harsh. He felt that the PSOW had characterised him 
in an unfair way as being cavalier or a rule-breaker, whilst his aim was to serve the 
public. He felt that the PSOW had not recognised mitigating factors, and even the 
Deputy Clerk had confirmed in her statement that he was a good councillor.  

4.2 The Appellant said that he was passionate about his work on the Town Council and 
serving his community and had refused councillor remuneration and chairman’s 
allowance. He hoped that his commitment was evidenced by the many character 
references which had been submitted. He described on-line abuse which he had 
received at the time of the local government elections in 2022 and in relation to the 
standards process for three days in a row, which had made him emotional. He said that 
abuse had come from individuals using a fake profile, including a PSOW officer. This led 
to him having no faith in the system and a need to put his side of the story. He said he 
would not do the same again given the same set of circumstances.  

Page 10



4.3 The Appellant acknowledged that his Facebook post following the Standards 
Committee hearing stated; ‘if the rules mean that you cannot be truthful, then the rules 
are wrong’ and said that he regretted the posting due to its personal impact and the on-
line abuse which had taken its toll. He also acknowledged that it was very likely that the 
quotes attributed to him in the on-line article were correct but said that he did not stand 
by some of the comments. He had since had a meeting with the Monitoring Officer and 
acknowledged that he should have discussed the matter with her in the first place. 

4.4 The Appellant did not agree that the Code breaches had been clear-cut, and he 
therefore considered that suspension for the maximum period of six months had been 
harsh. He did not realise at the time that he could apply for dispensation to speak and 
vote and considered that the lack of training had been highlighted by the Standards 
Committee in the recommendations it issued at the hearing of 9th May 2024. Whilst the 
Appellant accepted responsibility for his actions, he said that neither the Proper Officer 
of the Town Council nor her Deputy had advised him about the opportunity to apply for 
dispensation. 

4.5 The Appellant accepted that he could not lodge an appeal regarding the Standards 
Committee decision as to breach, and he respected that fact. He had researched cases 
online regarding the suspension of other politicians and provided a number of examples, 
where he argued that the behaviour had been more egregious than his own behaviour, 
and yet the sanction had been less harsh. He felt that he had been suspended for telling 
the truth. He said that it would have been abhorrent to him to have asked another 
Councillor to act on his behalf to challenge minutes which he knew to be wrong in terms 
of style. In response to a question from the Appeal Tribunal, the Appellant did not know 
why he had felt he should abstain from voting in relation to the minutes, and yet not 
declare a personal and prejudicial interest. In terms of the impact of this breach, he said 
that everyone in the community knew that he and his wife were married. 

4.6 The Appellant gave his reasons for not seeking advice from the Monitoring Officer 
on this matter. He said that he had talked to the Monitoring Officer many times in 
relation to other business. He had unfortunately taken a letter from the Monitoring 
Officer about her limited involvement in Town Council business the wrong way. He also 
said that he had been involved in a County Council issue where he had felt that he had 
been ‘let down’, and did not think that he could approach the Monitoring Officer as a 
result. He had felt a disconnect at the time but felt that he could now contact her.  

4.7 In summary, the Appellant accepted that there had been a Code breach but could 
not accept the level of sanction, which he felt to be egregious. He said that the truth was 
dear to him, and he simply wanted to be open and truthful. At the relevant time, he 
thought he was acting properly as the Chairman to correct the minutes in terms of their 
style and had not felt that he was breaking the rules. However, he said that he now 

Page 11



realised that this was wrong, and he could not contest that there had been a breach. He 
said that he had made a judgment call which had been wrong. He did not feel that he 
had deflected blame onto others as he said that he was responsible for his own actions. 
He had acted unwittingly and with the best of intentions and had not acted deliberately. 

 

5. CHARACTER REFERENCES 

5.1 The Appellant said he had received a ‘tidal wave’ of offers to provide character 
references for him. He said that these had been provided by people with whom, and for 
whom, he had worked over the years.  

5.2 Councillor Martin Williams provided oral evidence in relation to the Appellant’s 
character and also in relation to sanction. He said that he was an Independent member, 
being the same political group as that of the Appellant. He was also a member of the 
BCBC Standards Committee but had taken no part in the hearing of 9th May 2024. 

5.3 Councillor Williams stated that the Appellant had also been the subject of a 
complaint in 2023, in relation to voting for his wife to become the chairman of a 
committee. He said that this was dismissed as the PSOW took the view that such 
matters attracted ‘political protection’. He did not think that the issue in this case was 
clear-cut, unlike the case where a close personal associate applied for planning 
permission. He felt that the examples contained in the Guidance were very different to 
this case. In addition, Councillor Williams referred to three other cases which had come 
before the Standards Committee earlier in 2024. Although these were not to do with 
declaration of interest, he considered that they were more serious than this case and yet 
attracted lower sanctions. He considered that there had been a lack of consistency, and 
queried what would occur if a more serious case came before the Standards Committee. 

5.4 Councillor Williams referred to the Appellant being a ‘political pedant’, who loved 
nuance, but who believed in doing the right thing and had never knowingly subverted 
process. Regarding the Standards Committee hearing, he accepted that the Appellant 
initially did not agree that he had breached the Code of Conduct. Councillor Williams 
said that, with the benefit of hindsight, he would have declared a personal interest if he 
had been in the Appellant’s position. He said that the Appellant now accepted the 
position in view of the APW President’s decision. The question was now how to navigate 
the way forward. He did feel that the facts of this case were nuanced and had been 
over-simplified by the PSOW. He said this was very different to the case where a 
member did not declare a personal and prejudicial interest and remained in a meeting in 
relation, for example, to an increase of salary of the clerk where she was a close 
personal associate of the councillor. 

Page 12



5.5 He said that the Appellant had been advised by the Monitoring Officer that, whilst his 
wife had declared a personal and prejudicial interest and left the meetings, she could 
have remained in the debate about the minutes, and he found this to be a real 
contradiction. He also considered that there was nothing to differentiate between other 
members on the relevant committee who had likewise been close personal associates of 
the Appellant’s wife. He said that this decision had caused great disquiet amongst 
councillors who were terrified about finding themselves in the same position as the 
Appellant. He said there was confusion as to where the line was drawn in relation to 
declarations. He referred to the need to test the legal position and to find the right 
answer, and he felt that training, guidance and legal opinion was needed to deal with the 
grey areas such as in this case. 

5.6 Councillor Williams said that if all members continually erred on the side of caution 
and did not take part in debates, this would not serve democracy and the work of 
elected members. He said that some councillors were considering their position in 
politics because of such intervention, and he said; ‘that chills me.’ He said that online 
abuse of politicians and their families, whilst shocking and sickening, had become 
normalised and had reached a crescendo at the time of the spring elections in 2022 
elections. He accepted however that, as the Appellant had not declared interests, to an 
extent he was the author of his own misfortune. He had since accepted that he was 
responsible for his actions, but he had simply done his best. 

 

6. SUBMISSIONS OF THE PSOW ON THE ACTION TO BE TAKEN 

6.1 Mr Morris, on behalf of the PSOW, referred in detail to the Sanctions Guidance 
issued by the PSOW under section 75(10) of the Local Government Act 2000. He said 
that none of the aggravating factors referenced by the PSOW had been challenged by 
the Appellant in substance. He said that the Appellant was an experienced member, and 
so the expectations upon him were greater than they would have been for an 
inexperienced member. He said that there had been six breaches, that there was 
therefore a pattern of behaviour, and the Appellant had failed to declare an interest on 
more than one occasion. 

6.2 He stated that there had been no real reflection or remorse by the Appellant. He said 
that the Facebook post following the Standards Committee indicated that the Appellant 
would do the same again and that he felt that the rules were wrong. He said that whilst 
there was a tacit acknowledgement of some regret, this was more about the Appellant 
putting himself through an ordeal, rather than about the consequences of his actions, 
despite having been given the opportunity to acknowledge the breaches and to put his 
hands up to them. 

Page 13



6.3. Mr Morris considered that there had been repeated attempts by the Appellant to 
deflect blame onto others, including the Proper Officer, and he had not asked for further 
time to take advice, including from the Monitoring Officer. Mr Morris also submitted that 
the Appellant had tried to undermine the process, and he again referenced the 
Facebook post which he said was inappropriate, particularly in view of the pending 
appeal. He said that the Appellant did not regret what he said, only the reaction to it and 
he did not withdraw the comments which he had made to the journalist. He submitted 
that the Appellant’s answers to questioning had been evasive or qualified and that there 
had been no real sense of regret, and any remorse was; ‘remorse through gritted teeth’. 

6.4 Mr Morris also submitted that the Appellant continued to misunderstand the basis of 
the Standards Committee findings. He said that this was not about whether the relevant 
minutes were accurate or not, nor about the ability to correct them. Indeed, there were 
other legitimate opportunities to correct them, such as obtaining dispensation. He said 
that the Appellant should not have involved himself in business where there was a clear 
personal and prejudicial interest. The effect of doing so would be to undermine 
democracy. He said that the Appellant showed continued disregard for, or ignorance of, 
the importance of the rules when, in his own view, they were wrong. 

6.5 Finally, with regard to the PSOW’s investigation into a previous complaint regarding 
the Appellant’s participation in a vote regarding his wife’s chairmanship of a committee, 
he said that the PSOW did not recognise the phrase ‘political protection’ from the 
relevant response letter. He said that in that case, it was decided that the Appellant had 
a personal but not prejudicial interest. However, he did not consider this previous case 
to be relevant to the question of sanction. 

6.6 With regard to Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (’ECHR’), Mr 
Morris stated that this would have been considered in the balancing exercise carried out 
by the Standards Committee. Whilst the right to political freedom of expression was 
important, the private rights of others likewise needed to be considered. Mr Morris 
referenced the decision of the Standards Committe. He said that this showed that the 
Committee had properly reached its decision having carried out that balancing exercise. 

 

7. THE MONITORING OFFICER’S INPUT 

7.1 The Monitoring Officer confirmed that there were no previous breaches of the Code 
of Conduct by the Appellant which the Appeal Tribunal needed to consider. She 
explained that the Appellant would have received the County Council Code of Conduct 
training from 2022 onwards. She confirmed that the general training did deal with the 
right to apply for dispensation. However, she confirmed that the facility for applying for 
dispensation had not been used during her time as Monitoring Officer. In relation to a 

Page 14



complaint made against the Appellant in 2019, training had been offered to the Appellant 
as recommended in the PSOW’s letter at that time, however this was not taken up by 
the Appellant.  

7.2 The Monitoring Officer confirmed that she had met with the Appellant following the 
Standards Committee hearing and his Facebook post. Following that meeting, the 
Monitoring Officer had understood that the Appellant would issue a further Facebook 
clarification, however he did not proceed with this. She confirmed that complaints had 
been received from members of the public that the Facebook post had brought the 
Council into disrepute. The issue about which the Appellant said he had been 
uncomfortable with her input occurred in 2023, and not 2022 when the relevant events 
took place. The Appellant apologised to the Monitoring Officer and said that he had not 
realised the sequence of events and he had not sought to mislead the Appeal Tribunal. 
The Monitoring Officer said that, in any event, the Appellant had readily approached her 
regarding other issues. In addition, he would have been able to approach the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer.  

7.3 Finally, the Monitoring Officer confirmed that she had no recollection of having 
advised the Appellant that his wife could have attended and participated in the relevant 
item at the Regeneration meeting of 24th October 2022, and neither the Appellant nor 
his wife had requested Monitoring Officer advice prior to the meeting. 

 

8. APPEAL TRIBUNAL’S DECISION ON THE ACTION TO BE TAKEN 

8.1 The Appeal Tribunal had regard to the parties’ submissions, to the APW Sanctions 
Guidance, and to the PSOW Guidance. It also had regard to the purpose of sanctions 
which was to provide a disciplinary response to breaches of the Code, and to place the 
sanction on public record, deter future misconduct, promote a culture of compliance and 
to foster public confidence in local democracy. It then followed the five-stage process set 
out in the Guidance, being to assess the seriousness and consequences of the breach, 
identify the broad type of sanction, consider mitigating or aggravating circumstances, 
consider further adjustment to ensure the sanction achieved an appropriate effect 
regarding the sanction purposes and to then confirm the decision. 

8.2 Firstly, the Appeal Tribunal assessed the seriousness of the Appellant’s breaches of 
the Code with particular regard to the nature, extent, and number of breaches. It did not 
consider that the breaches comprised of the most serious type of breach typically 
referred to Standards Committees in Wales. It reached this view for the following 
reasons. 

8.3 The Appeal Tribunal noted that the examples of failure to declare personal and 
prejudicial interests provided in the PSOW Guidance were clear-cut, relating to matters 

Page 15



such as deliberate deception for personal gain, systematic bullying, or a breach of 
confidentiality regarding sensitive information. The substantive issue in this case, which 
was being discussed in a Regeneration meeting on 14th June 2022 was to do with the 
unveiling of blue plaques and was not to do with a matter which personally affected the 
Appellant’s wife. The failure to declare a personal and prejudicial interest arose in 
relation to the subsequent minutes and arose because of the recording of certain details 
of a dispute that occurred at the meeting and involving the Appellant’s wife and the Clerk 
which then led to a complaint to the PSOW about the wife’s behaviour at that meeting. 
Significantly, however, the Appellant’s wife declared a personal and prejudicial interest 
and the Appeal Tribunal considered that this should have alerted the Appellant to the 
need to consider his own position with regard to the relevant item. 

8.4 Involvement in business relating to a close personal associate would usually 
constitute a serious breach of the Code of Conduct, including using a casting vote to 
pass a relative’s planning application. The Appeal Tribunal did not, however, consider 
that the breach in this case had been as clear-cut. In this case, the nature of input was 
to reduce the detail contained within the minutes and to record that there had been an 
apology by the Appellant’s wife before leaving. It was not to erase from the record the 
fact that there had been a dispute. A complaint had already been submitted to the 
PSOW by the complainant to outline her concerns, and a copy of the draft minutes had 
presumably already been submitted in relation to the complaint. In the circumstances, 
the Appeal Tribunal considered that it was unlikely that the Appellant’s input could have 
made any difference to PSOW’s decision to investigate or pursue the Clerk’s complaint. 

8.5 The Appeal Panel considered the most concerning aspect in relation to the 
Appellant’s behaviour to have been the Appellant’s comment at the meeting of 24th 
October 2022 that his wife had said “I’m sorry, I can’t take this” at the June meeting in 
response to the draft minutes which recorded that the Appellant’s wife had left abruptly 
without apology. It noted the further input at the Council meeting of 12th December 
2022, to record that he had in fact stated, “I can’t do this, I’m leaving”. In evidence, the 
Appellant demonstrated some confusion about the order of events in this respect. The 
Appeal Tribunal concluded that on the balance of probabilities, the Appellant’s input at 
the October meeting sought to minimize the absence of an apology by his wife before 
leaving the meeting. This was despite the fact that any failure to apologise before 
leaving a meeting was unlikely to have made any real difference to the investigation. 

8.6 As to the number of Code breaches, the Appeal Tribunal noted that the Standards 
Committee found the Appellant to have been in breach of six paragraphs of the Code. 
However, these were all in relation to the same events concerning the minutes of the 
Regeneration Committee dated 12th June 2022. The Appeal Tribunal did however 
consider that there had been a pattern of behaviour in terms of there being a repeated 
failure to declare personal and prejudicial interests, particularly in relation to the 

Page 16



Regeneration Committee meeting of 24th October 2022 and the full Council meeting of 
12th December 2022. As regards the Council meeting of 26th September 2022, the 
Appeal Tribunal recognised that, as Chairman of the Regeneration Committee meeting, 
the Appellant was in an invidious position in his chairman’s role of presenting and 
signing minutes which he did not feel able to support.  

8.7 Paragraph 35 of the Sanctions Guidance also makes it clear that the level of 
culpability, intention of the member, and previous breaches of the Code are all relevant 
to the question of seriousness. The Appeal Tribunal found the Appellant’s evidence and 
that of Councillor Martin Williams to be credible and persuasive in terms of the 
Appellant’s general intentions. He had been described by an official as being a good 
Councillor. The Tribunal considered that the breaches had been unintentional and had 
been due to a misguided view of the Code rather than a deliberate breach. It was 
satisfied that the Appellant’s primary motivation had been to ensure that minutes of the 
Regeneration Committee meeting had been fair and balanced. The Appeal Tribunal was 
clear however that this could not be divorced from the fact that the draft minutes focused 
on the behaviour of the Appellant’s wife.  

8.8 The Appeal Tribunal then considered the consequences of the breaches for 
individuals, the wider public and the council as a whole. Whilst it considered that the 
impact of the breach upon the complaint to the PSOW against the Appellant’s wife was 
likely to have been minimal, the alteration of the narrative in the public record would 
have caused upset to officers and would have been a matter of concern for the general 
public. As for the Council, the obvious underlying relationship issue within the Council 
provided the background to this breach and would, in itself, have brought the Council 
into disrepute. The breach would however have caused a further layer of difficulty and 
media interest for the Council, unfortunately for the wrong reasons. 

8.9 Finally, the Appeal Panel considered the evidence of previous cases supplied by the 
Appellant, both in the wider political context in Wales and in relation to recent cases 
which had been before the Standards Committee and where breaches had been more 
serious, and yet the sanction imposed had been less harsh than that imposed in this 
case. It also had regard to the fact that there had been previous complaints made 
against the Appellant which had resulted in no action. In a recent investigation, it 
appeared that the PSOW had decided that no prejudicial interest arose where the 
Appellant had participated in a vote to enable his wife to take up a remunerated chair 
position. On the face of it, voting in such a case might appear to be more serious than 
speaking in relation to the current issue. The PSOW may however have taken a 
pragmatic view in the recent case, that where a husband and wife were members of the 
same Council and the business related to routine, administrative arrangements, then no 
prejudicial interest would arise. The question of where the line is drawn in relation to 

Page 17



prejudicial interests is therefore not always clear cut, and the Appeal Tribunal noted that 
this may have caused understandable confusion for the Appellant.  

8.10 In summary, and on the facts of this particular case, the Appeal Tribunal did not 
consider that the Code breaches by the Appellant in this case could be regarded as 
being amongst the most serious examples of breaches noted in Paragraphs 36 and 37 
of the Sanctions Guidance. 

8.11 Having assessed the relative seriousness of the member’s breach of the Code, the 
Appeal Tribunal then considered which course of action would be the most appropriate 
and noted from the Sanctions Guidance that, ‘in line with the principles of fairness and 
proportionality, the tribunal should start its considerations of possible sanctions with that 
of least impact.’ The Appeal Tribunal first considered the option of ‘No action’ or 
‘censure’ as it had accepted that the breaches of the Code in this case had not been 
deliberate. As the course of action had however continued in more than one meeting, it 
was not simply one isolated incident, and it did have potential consequences in relation 
to alteration of an official record. It therefore considered that a short period of 
suspension was necessary.  

8.12 The Appeal Tribunal therefore determined that a time-limited form of disciplinary 
response was appropriate to deter such future action, and to temporarily remove the 
Appellant from the Relevant Authority to safeguard the standards set by the Code and to 
reassure the public that standards were being upheld. It noted from Paragraph 39.5 of 
the Standards Guidance that a suspension of less than a month was unlikely to meet the 
objectives of the sanctions’ regime. 

8.13 The Appeal Tribunal then went on to consider any mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances in this case. It had regard to Paragraph 42 of the Sanctions Guidance in 
taking care to respect the Appellant’s legitimate right to appeal, and to ‘distinguish 
protestations or assertions made in the course of exercising that right from those actions 
that might be regarded as aggravating factors designed to obstruct the processes of the 
Ombudsman or Adjudication Panel.’ 

8.14 In relation to mitigation, the Appeal Tribunal had regard to the large number of 
extremely positive character references supplied on behalf of the Appellant, which 
referred to his dedication to the role of Member and to his integrity and honesty. It was 
also satisfied that the following mitigating circumstances applied; - 

8.14.1 It was satisfied from the evidence it had seen that the Appellant had a previous 
record of good service over a long period of time. The Appellant had been a Member for 
a period of six years. The Appeal Tribunal also noted that there were no previous 
relevant breaches which the PSOW and Monitoring Officer thought it should consider. 

Page 18



8.14.2 The misconduct related to one set of minutes, albeit that the failure to declare a 
personal and prejudicial interest, and participation in relation to the relevant item, took 
place over more than one meeting. 

8.14.3 The Appellant was acting in good faith and due to an honestly held, albeit 
mistaken view that the conduct did not involve a breach of the Code of Conduct. 

8.14.4 The misconduct arose from the unusual way in which the minutes had been 
drafted. The Appeal Tribunal considered that if the minutes had been drafted in a neutral 
manner, to simply record that a dispute had occurred, then it was unlikely that the 
minutes would have been controversial or that a Code breach would have been 
established. 

8.14.5 The Appeal Tribunal accepted that a further failure to comply with the Code on 
the part of the Appellant in similar circumstances was unlikely, and it trusted that the 
Appellant would be prepared to attend all available training and accept appropriate 
advice in relation to the Code of Conduct and, in particular, in relation to personal and 
prejudicial interests in future. 

8.14.6 The Appeal Tribunal had seen nothing to suggest that the Appellant had not 
complied with the Code since the events giving rise to the adjudication. It considered 
that the evidence showed the Appellant to be a dedicated and hard-working Member 
with the interests of his community at heart. 

8.14.7 Whilst it would have been technically possible for the Appellant to have applied to 
the Standards Committee for dispensation, in reality, it was not a facility that had been 
used in Bridgend. The Appeal Tribunal also noted that the Standards Committee made 
certain recommendations on 9th May 2024 which clearly indicated that awareness-
raising was required in relation to dispensation applications. Likewise, any facility for 
Members to be able to speak from the public gallery, in a similar manner to members of 
the public, did not appear to be used at the Town Council. The Appellant rightly made it 
clear that it would not be appropriate to influence any other member ‘behind the scenes’ 
to put forward views on his behalf. As such, the Appeal Tribunal understood why the 
Appellant had found himself in a difficult position as chairman, however if he could not 
have availed himself of the above mechanisms, he should have left the debate for other 
Members to resolve. 

8.14.8 The Appeal Tribunal noted that none of the Town Council officials appeared to 
have provided any advice or warning to the Appellant about his interventions at any of 
the relevant meetings. 

8.15 The Appeal Tribunal then went on to consider aggravating factors, and it 
considered that the following aggravating circumstances applied; - 

Page 19



8.15.1 In view of the Appellant’s fairly long experience as a Member on both BCBC and 
the Town Council, as well positions of responsibility held on the Town Council, the 
Appeal Tribunal considered that the Appellant should have had greater awareness of 
the requirements of the Code of Conduct with regard to personal and prejudicial 
interests. Indeed, due to atmosphere of hostility in which he was working, particularly 
around the time of the local government elections in 2022, the Appeal Tribunal 
considered that the Appellant should have been alert to the need to take care in 
declaring personal and prejudicial interests where appropriate. 

8.15.2 The Appeal Tribunal did consider that, at times, the Appellant sought to deflect 
blame against both Town and County Council officials, as well as political opponents. It 
also recognised that this was against a background of considerable hostility and abuse 
on social media. Nevertheless, it was most unfortunate that the Appellant had posted a 
Facebook message criticising the standards process, particularly as the appeal process 
was readily available for the Appellant to enable challenge of the decision of the 
Standards Committee.  

8.15.3 The finding of the Standards Committee that the Appellant had breached 
Paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct was upheld by the President of the APW. The 
finding was therefore that the Appellant had used/attempted to use his position 
improperly to confer/secure an advantage, or to create/avoid a disadvantage. In the 
circumstances, the Appeal Tribunal considered that there had been a degree of 
conscious, or at least, subconscious, attempts by the Appellant to influence the 
treatment of the minutes for these purposes. 

8.15.4 Whilst the Appeal Tribunal noted that there were breaches of six separate 
Paragraphs of the Code, it was satisfied that these could not be fairly classified as a 
‘pattern of behaviour’ or a case of repeatedly failing to abide by the Code. The 
Appellant’s interventions all related to the minutes of the meeting of 14th June 2022 and 
formed a pattern of behaviour only to the extent that the Appellant’s input regarding the 
minutes continued over certain meetings between September and December 2022. 

8.15.5 Whilst the Appeal Tribunal recognised the Appellant’s legitimate right of appeal, it 
did consider that there had been an on-going lack of understanding or acceptance by 
the Appellant of the breaches and any consequences. Whilst the Appeal Tribunal had 
already given credit for the fact that the question of prejudicial interest is not always 
clear-cut, the current circumstances did not relate to routine, administrative business, it 
related to a heated discussion and controversy which directly involved the Appellant’s 
wife which had already led to a complaint to the PSOW. This should have alerted the 
Appellant to the fact that he should not have participated in the business. 

8.15.6 Whilst it was noted that the Appellant had attended Code of Conduct training, the 
Appeal Tribunal was concerned to note that the Monitoring Officer had reached out to 

Page 20



the Appellant to provide training in relation to personal and prejudicial interests following 
a complaint in 2019. It appeared that the Appellant had not taken up the offer and so, on 
the balance of probabilities, the Appeal Tribunal felt that Appellant had deliberately 
ignored the offer. 

8.15.7 The Appeal Tribunal considered that the Appellant’s Facebook post and input to 
the on-line press article, notwithstanding any provocation, amounted to a failure to co-
operate with, and lack of respect for, the relevant standards regime and procedure. It 
noted that the article stated that the Appellant stood by his comment that, if the rules 
meant that he could not be truthful, then the rules were wrong. During the Appeal 
hearing, however, the Appellant made it clear that he would not do the same again in 
these circumstances. 

8.15.8 The Appeal Tribunal noted that the Appellant had accepted the fact that he had 
breached the Code, albeit that the PSOW argued that this was done through ‘gritted 
teeth’ and that he had not shown remorse for his actions. The Appeal Tribunal noted 
that the Appellant was reluctant to acknowledge that he had breached the Code as he 
considered that the treatment of prejudicial interests was not clear-cut. His portrayal of 
the situation as being a binary ‘The Truth’ versus ‘The Rules’ was however unhelpful, 
and it considered this to be an aggravating factor in this case. The Appeal Tribunal 
considered that a more accurate portrayal of the issue would have been to compare the 
wish to continue to chair and/or speak about what the Appellant considered to be unfair 
or one-sided minutes, versus the requirement to declare interests and leave the meeting 
where a personal and prejudicial interest applied. 

8.15.9 Finally, the Appeal Tribunal noted that, despite the fact that the Appellant had 
been in touch with the Monitoring Officer over several issues, he had failed to ask her for 
advice regarding the specific situation. It considered that he had ample time to consider 
his position between the Council meeting in September 2022 and the Regeneration 
meeting in October 2022 and then again, prior to the Council meeting in December 
2022. The Appeal Tribunal was concerned that the Appellant had sought to excuse this 
lack of contact by referring to events which post-dated the current issue, albeit he 
apologised to the Monitoring Officer at the Appeal hearing for this error. The Appeal 
Tribunal was however mindful that the events in question took place in 2022, and it was 
most unfortunate that the proceedings were still in train in late 2024, so that memories 
will no doubt have faded. 

8.16 The Appeal Tribunal then considered whether any further adjustment was required 
to the sanction in order to achieve an appropriate deterrent effect and to maintain public 
confidence. It also considered the overriding purpose of the sanctions regime to uphold 
standards of conduct in public life and to maintain confidence in local democracy. It 
therefore considered relevant previous decisions of the APW as follows: - 

Page 21



8.16.1 With regard to APW/001/2015-016/CT, the Appeal Tribunal considered that the 
personal and prejudicial interest in that case in terms of a partner’s pay increase as clerk 
was clear and obvious. Nevertheless, the Member remained in the meeting but 
appeared not to have participated in the debate. In that case, a three-month suspension 
was imposed. 

8.16.2 With regard to APW/011/2021-022/CT, the Appeal Tribunal noted that in that 
case, the sanction of suspension was not available as it involved a former member. It 
noted that it had been a finely balanced decision as to whether or not to impose any 
sanction and that the Guidance stated that a disqualification of less than 12 months was 
regarded as being unlikely to be meaningful. The behaviour in that case was seen to 
involve voting by the member in relation to a substantive decision as to whether to report 
her member husband to the PSOW, in full knowledge of the Code requirements and with 
a clear statement that she would do the same again. 

8.17 Finally, the Appeal Tribunal had regard to Article 10 of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (‘ECHR’) as follows: -  

8.17.1 ‘Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include freedom 
to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference by 
public authority and regardless of frontiers.... The exercise of these freedoms, since it 
carries with it duties and responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, 
restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic 
society, in the interests of…public safety, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the 
protection of health or morals, for the protection of the reputation or rights of others…’ 

8.17.2 The Appeal Tribunal also had regard to the case of Heesom v Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504, which provided a reminder of the principle 
that to deprive constituents of the elected member of their choice required particular 
justification, and that consideration must be given to imposing the minimum sanction 
consistent with the aims of maintaining standards in public life. 

8.17.3 In conclusion, with regard to Article 10 ECHR, in the light of other cases to which 
the parties had referred, and in the interests of proportionality, the Appeal Tribunal 
concluded that a period of suspension of six months was excessive, as this was the 
maximum sanction which could be imposed by the Standards Committee and it 
considered that the breaches in this case were not of the most egregious nature. As 
referenced in the Heesom case, the sanction of six months’ suspension would not give 
'adequate head room for the much graver breaches of the Code which could be 
envisaged’. 

 

DETERMINATION 

Page 22



8.18 The Appeal Tribunal, by unanimous decision, decided to refer the matter back to 
the BCBC Standards Committee with a recommendation that the Appellant should be 
suspended for 10 weeks pursuant to the Local Government Investigations (Functions of 
Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001. 

8.19 The Authority and its Standards Committee are notified accordingly. 

8.20 The Appeal Tribunal noted that the Standards Committee also made certain 
recommendations regarding advice and training upon elements of the Code. The Appeal 
Tribunal was mindful that such recommendations were outside its powers under the 
2001 Regulations. Nevertheless, given the evidence received during the course of the 
Appeal hearing, it considered that it would be beneficial for the Standards Committee to 
pursue such recommendations. 

  

Signed………… …………    Date: 03rd January 2025 

 

Chair of the Appeal Tribunal: Ms C Jones 

Case Tribunal Member: Dr G Jones 

Case Tribunal Member: Mr D Morris 

 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	ourref1
	yourref1

	3 Hysbysiad O Benderfyniad Panel Dyfarnu Cymru Mewn Perthynas Â'r Cynghorydd Steven Bletsoe
	BLETSOE REASONED DECISION


